
289 EAST MAIN STREET, WESTMINSTER 

WAGNER HOUSE 

A typical late Victorian L-shaped house, the "Reese-Waqner 
House" was built by Orlando Reese c. 1880, on lots 2 and 3 of the 
original town, an area once part of a large tanyard. The house still 
has its splendid arched marble mantles, en~led with fanciful coats of 
arms. Many other once-august houses in the City are near-copies of 
this building (e.g. 202 East Main Street) but no other place can claim, 
as this place can, to be the site of the first ice cream store in town. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

"The Wagner House", number 289 East Main Street, Westminster, 
is located about 60 yards west of the intersection of Main Street, (Md. 
Route 32) and Manchester Avenue. The house faces south, towards Main 
Street. Gardens border the house to the east and north; a small alley 
runs along the west side, between the Wagner Horne and 287 East Main 
Street. 

Al though there is no substantiated evidence to indicate that 
the bulk of the house was not conceived as a whole, two rather distinct 
sections meet the eye: a 3 bay - 2~ story section parallel with Main 
Street, and a 2~ story bay windowed perpendicular section to the west, 
creating a modified L-shape thus. (For ease in description, these will 
be called sections 1 and 2 respectively.) There is a 2 story shed roofed 
addition running with the entire length of Section 2's east front until 
it intersects Section 1. 

Built of a deep rose brick, the house is accented by the white 
of the wood trim including the half-a-hexagon bay window, the 2 one story 
porches - one which runs along the entire southern (entrance) facade of 
Section 1 and one recessed at the northeast intersection of Sections 1 
and 2. The second story of the eastern addition to Sections 2 is covered 
with white weatherboard. Functioning black louvered shutters acd further 
accents. 

All brick is laid in 6 course common bond above a low, roughly 
coursed fieldstone foundation. (The lot slightly dips to the north, 
thereby exposing more of the northern foundation.) The gabled roofs of 
both main sections, and the shed roof of the addition, are all covered 
corrugated sheet metal, as they probably were originally. The roofs 
extend about one foot from the house and are all finished with simple 
mouldings at the eaves. There are two low flat-capped chimneys; one 
flush with the center of the lower-pitched east gable, the other about 
6 feet north of the junction of the bay window and the west wall of 
Section 2. 

The walls are pierced in a somewhat confusing manner, except 
for the street (south) facade which has the 2 story bay window and 
small round arched gable window of Section 2, and the 2 story regularly 
spaced 3 bay facade of Section 1. The western most bay of Section 1 is 
the main door to the house. The eastern facade of Section 1 is 2 bays 
wide on each floor (regularly spaced) with 2 small horizontally aligned 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

If the buildings of Westminser, and of small town America 
in general, are to be valued today, it must finally be because they 
display what v. Sackville-West called the "centuries" long progressions 
of living-patterns". If the Wagner House is to be considered important 
for reasons other than its age, it must be because we think it signifi-
cant that the Stansbury's as owners, if not as builders, felt it desirous 
of copying a Doge's coat of arms in marble (and of varnishing it), of 
creating a one column in-antis temple front, and of playing with different 
roof pitches. The house is a fine late Victoria example of Henry Glassie's 
Mid-Atlantic two-thirds Georgian House plan, with one room extensions to the 
north and east. 

In the social history of the town, the Wagner House has a 
similar low-key vernacular appeal. It was not the home of great poli­
ticians or pioneers, but it is the site of the first ice cream made 
in Westminster, and of the town's first ice-cream parlor (c. 1910), 
which, the present owner remembers, was located in the northern ground 
floor section of Section 2, and in warm weather on the rear loggia. 

As this lot was the site of the old tanyard, the early 
history of the Wagner house and lot is inextricably bound with the 
Yingling-Bl"izzard lot to the east. After Jacob and Mary Yingling 
died, all the heirs (see Blizzard title data), on September 10, 1868, 
joined to sell a 60' by 198' lot "with the tanyard and mill buildings" 
to their brother, William Yingling (Deed 38/522). William died on 
November 29, 1875, and his brother, Elias, as trustee, sold the lot to 
his nephew, Orlando Reese on September 30, 1878, for $500 (50/505). 
Orlando Reese was the son of William D. Reese and Sarah Jane Yingling 
(daughter of Jacob). William D. had moved to Westminster from Baltimore 
and established a flourishing grocery store across the street from the 
tanyard, at 292 East Main Street. Orlando presumably then built the 
brick house that stands today, or on October 14, 1912, he sold the 
lot for $3,300 to his brother William D. Reese (120/421). The ice-cream 
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beginning. Containing 11,880 square feet. (n.b. This is the legal 
description. 
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windows in the gable. The 2 story eastern facade of Section 2 is 3 bays 
long (regularly spaced) , with the first 2 bays moving northward from 
Section 1 being doors (again, "in-antis"). There are no openings at all 
on the north facade of Section 1: Section 2 is 3 bays wide and is pierced: 
ground floor - space, window, door: second floor - window, window, space: 
under the steep gable, which rises only over the western 2 bays, is a 
small window. The door on this facade is approached by a vertical set 
of gray painted wooden steps rising from the east: the door is encircled 
on three sides by whitewashed plywood topped with a green and white 
metal awning. The western facade (made up entirely of the west wall of 
Section 2) has 6 windows on 2 stories, vertically aligned, but all in the 
northern half of the wall. This arrangement is explained by noting that 
287 East Main Street, probably existing when 289 was built, extended back 
exactly as far as the blind wall now does. The windows of all facades 
have simple enframements and are topped (for the ground and second stories 
only) by 3 course gauged flat arches. The gable windows of Section 2 have 
either a round header arch (south facade) or no decoration at all (north 
facade): the gable windows of Section 1 also are plain, all windows are 
two over two double-hung sash. The doors on the south and east facades 
are aluminum and glass storm doors. 

The transition from interior to exterior is eased and made less 
abrupt as all doors lead onto porches. The flat roof of the street (south) 
porch is, as are the rest of the roofs, covered with corrugated metal. 
Widely spaced simple brackets support this roof, as do square posts: the 
posts are in turn supported by 3 foot tall square bases. Urn-drop pendants 
are located between each post at the tops of the segmented arches which, 
along with the single railing, tie the whole effect together. The loggia 
of the east facade is behind a single square post and evenly spaced 2 x 4's 
which run between the post and the south wall as a railing. 

The front (south) entrance door, the bottom half of which is 
composed of 2 vertical recessed panels, the top half of which is a single 
pane of glass, leads to a large through hall. The right side of the hall 
contains a broad staircase that originally led up all the way to the attic; 
the present owners have put plywood boards at the second story ceiling to 
conserve heat. Each floor was identical in plan: a large room to the east 
(which with the entrance hall, filled Section 1) and 3 rooms in a line to 
the west of the hall. The present owners have installed baths in the two 
rear west rooms. 

An arched grey-marble chimney piece is to be found in the east 
room and front west rooms of each floor. The arches have, in place of 
keystones, escutcheons with more or less fancifully designed arms. The 
keystone in the front west room has the arms of the Grimani family. The 
2 east fireplaces have been sealed off and qas spaceheaters have been 
installed. 
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legend now becomes very plausible, given that the Reese's were prominent 
grocers and merchants. (An article appeared in the "American Sentinel" 
in 1913 (month unknown) commenting on the longevity of the Reese store.) 

On March 3, 1936, William D. Reese II, and his wife Ada B., 
sold the house and lot to John w. Stonesifer and Jennie A. Stonesifer, his 
wife (Deed 163/496, no consideration, but $4 of I.R.S. starnos). Mrs. 
Stonesifer died and on October 1, 1958, John w. sold the place to E. Rogers 
Lee and Margaret M., his wife. This was deed 295/217. The I.R.S. stamps 
increased to $10.45 and the lot's first metes and bounds, courses and dis­
tances description is given; we are also told that this is lots 2 and 3 
on the old plat of Westminster (it is actually lot 2 and the eastern half of 
lot 3). On April 29, 1960, the Lees sold, with the same metes and bounds 
description, the house and lot to the present owners, John Wagner and 
Julia Bair Wagner, his wife, for $13,5000 (Deed 319/382). 
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